
Fox Oakland Theater, Inc. Board Teleconference Meeting 
Monday, December 7, 2020, 3:00PM page 1 

AGENDA PACKET 
FOX OAKLAND THEATER, INC. 

a California nonprofit public benefit corporation controlled by the City of Oakland 
 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
 

TELECONFERENCE ACCESS INFORMATION  
AND PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDANCE 

 
Monday, December 7, 2020 

3:00 p.m. 
 

ACCESSING FOT BOARD TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS: 
 
This meeting will be held by tele-conference and recorded. The public may observe and/or 
participate in this meeting in the following two ways: 
 

• To join the meeting by video conference, please click on this Zoom link at the noticed 
meeting time: 

https://zoom.us/j/93907579910 
Webinar/Meeting ID: 939 0757 9910 

 
• To listen to the meeting by phone, please dial the numbers below, depending on your 

location, at the noticed meeting time. 
 

To call using iPhone OneTap,  
dial either of the numbers below: 

To call regularly, dial either of the numbers below followed by the 
Meeting ID (for better quality, dial number closest to current calling 

location): 

(USA) +1 (408) 638-0968  
followed by 939 075 799 10 #  
 

(USA) +1 (669) 900-6833 
followed by 939 075 799 10 # 

+1 (408) 638-0968 (San Jose) 
+1 (669) 900-6833 (San Jose) 
+1 (253) 215-8782 (Tacoma) 
+1 (346) 248-7799 (Houston) 
+1 (312) 626-6799 (Chicago) 

+1 (646) 876 9923 (New York) 
+1 (301) 715 8592 (Germantown) 
 
For international call-in numbers: 

https://zoom.us/u/acJcKkA6b4 

 

If you need special assistance to participate in meetings, please contact the FOT Secretary 
Hui-Chang Li (hLi@oaklandca.gov or 510-238-6239) or FOTB staff Brandon Wolinsky 
(bWolinsky@oalandca.gov or (510) 238-3250). When possible, please notify staff five (5) days 
prior to the meeting so we can make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility. 

https://zoom.us/j/93907579910
https://zoom.us/u/acJcKkA6b4
mailto:bWolinsky@oalandca.gov


Fox Oakland Theater, Inc. Board Teleconference Meeting 
Monday, December 7, 2020, 3:00PM page 2

PROVIDING PUBLIC COMMENT: 

All public comment will be taken at the beginning of the meeting under Agenda Item No. 2: 
Public Comment. 

There are two ways to submit public comments: 

• Email before the meeting. Please email hli@oaklandca.gov to send your comment
directly to the Board and staff BEFORE the meeting starts. eComment submission closes
five (5) minutes before posted meeting time

• During the Public Comment period at the meeting. During Agenda Item No. 2,
participants may provide comment during the live meeting webcasting, either by:

o Clicking the “Raise Your Hand” button to request to speak during the Public
Comment period, which occurs in within the first half of the meeting. During your
turn, you will be permitted to provide your comment, and after the allotted time,
re-muted.

o To comment by phone, please call on one of the above listed phone numbers.

You will be prompted to “Raise Your Hand” by pressing “* 9” to speak when
Public Comment is taken. You will be permitted to speak during your turn,
allowed to comment, and after the allotted time, re-muted.

Please unmute yourself by pressing “* 6.”

mailto:hli@oaklandca.gov


Fox Oakland Theater, Inc. Board Teleconference Meeting 
Monday, December 7, 2020, 3:00PM page 3

AGENDA PACKET 
FOX OAKLAND THEATER, INC. 

a California nonprofit public benefit corporation controlled by the City of Oakland 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA 

Monday, December 7, 2020, 3:00 p.m. 

1. Roll Call

Alexa Jeffress (President)
Margaret O’Brien (CFO)
Hui-Chang Li (Secretary)

Kelley Kahn (Director) 
Betsy Lake (Director) 
Brendan Moriarty (Director) 
Anthony Reese (Director) 

2. Public Comment
(1 minute per speaker)

3. Approval of October 2, 2020 FOT Board Meeting Minutes
Presenter: Hui-Chang Li

ACTION ITEM 

4. FOT Financial Status (Exhibit A)
Presenter: Hui-Chang Li

INFO ITEM 

5. Fox Theater Asset Transfer from ORSA to City
Presenter: Hui-Chang Li

INFO ITEM 

6. Property Management

6a) Enter into Property Management Agreement with Colliers
Presenter: Anthony Reese 

Staff Recommendation: 
Authorize approval and execution of a Property Management Agreement 
with Collier’s International Real Estate Management Services (CA), Inc. to 
serve as the Property Manager for the Fox Oakland Theater in an amount 
not to exceed $6,200 per month, or $74,400 per year plus a 3% interest 
increase on each anniversary date, for a term of 5 years, which may be 
extended for two additional terms of 5 years each, consistent with the terms 
of the request for proposal issued on March 13, 2020, as described in the 
Resolution (Exhibit B) 

ACTION ITEM 



Fox Oakland Theater, Inc. Board Teleconference Meeting 
Monday, December 7, 2020, 3:00PM page 4

6b) CCIG Property Management Agreement Extension 
Presenter: Anthony Reese 

Staff Recommendation: 
Authorize staff to negotiate and execute an Amendment No. 13 to the 
professional services agreement with California Capital & Investment Group 
(“CCIG”) to continue providing property management services at the Fox 
Theater until the earlier of January 31, 2021 or 30 days after the execution of 
the property management agreement with Collier’s International Real Estate 
Management Services (CA), Inc. 

ACTION ITEM 

6c) Capital Improvement Needs: Waterproofing and Roof Repair 
Presenter: George Durney 

Staff Recommendation: 
Authorize approval and execution of an agreement with roofing material and 
services proposal with Garland/DBS, Inc. to provide roofing material and 
services in the amount of $476,281, plus a 15% contingency in the amount 
of $71,442, for a total amount not to exceed $547,723, as described in the 
Resolution (Exhibit C) 

ACTION ITEM 

6d) Capital Improvement Needs: HVAC Repairs 
Presenter: Anthony Reese 

INFO ITEM 

7. Schedule for Upcoming Meetings

The following is the tentative schedule for upcoming quarterly FOT Board
meetings in 2021:

• Monday, March 1, 2021, 3pm
• Monday, June 7, 2021, 3pm
• Monday, August 2, 2021, 3pm
• Monday, November 1, 2021, 3pm

8. Other Items to Discuss

9. Adjournment for Closed Session

Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54956.8:

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS



Fox Oakland Theater, Inc. Board Teleconference Meeting 
Monday, December 7, 2020, 3:00PM page 5 

a) Property: Fox Theater, 1807 Telegraph Ave, Oakland, California (a 
portion of the ground floor of the wrap around buildings off Telegraph, 
along 18th Street and 19th Street, as well as the second and third floors) 

  
FOT’s Negotiator: Brendan Moriarty, Anthony Reese, Jordan Flanders, 
and Naree Chan 
  
Negotiating Parties: Oakland School for the Arts 
  
Under Negotiation: Price and terms of payment for the lease of the 
property.  

 

 



 

 
 
Minutes of FOT Board Meeting by Tele-Conference       
October 2, 2020, 2:00 p.m.           Page 1 

 

FOX OAKLAND THEATER, INC. 
a California nonprofit public benefit corporation controlled by the City of Oakland 

 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
October 2, 2020 

2:00 p.m. 
 

MINUTES 
 
1. Roll call 

 
Meeting called to order at 2:05 p.m.  
 
Board Members present: Alexa Jeffress (President), Hui-Chang Li 
(Secretary), Anthony Reese (Director), Brendan Moriarty (Director) 
 
Quorum was achieved with four members present. 
 
Betsy Lake (Director) arrived late after quorum was achieved.  
 
Others present: Patrick Lane (staff), Brandon Wolinsky (staff), Jens 
Hillmer (staff), Margaret O’Brien 
 

2. Public Comment       
 
 No speakers provided public comment. 
 

3. Approval of Minutes for July 15, 2020 – Action Item 
 

Moved by Hui-Chang Li, seconded by Alexa Jeffress. Motion was 
approved. 
 

4. Board appointments – Action Item 
 

Hui-Chang Li moved to confirm Margaret O’Brien to replace Adam 
Benson as CFO, seconded by Anthony Reese. Motion was approved by 
consensus. 

 
5. FOT Financial Status – Informational Item   
 

Hui-Chang Li updated the Board that the FY 19-20 audit is currently 
underway. Consultant will provide draft report by November 30, 2020.  
As of October 1, 2020, FOT has approximately $5.2 million in Operating 
and Capital Reserve funds, which have been stable since July 2020. Hui-



 

 
 
Minutes of FOT Board Meeting by Tele-Conference       
October 2, 2020, 2:00 p.m.           Page 2 

 

Chang Li added that reserve funds would usually be growing over this 
period in usual years, and reminded that projections for revenue and 
expenses in FY 2020-21 will be a “wash.” Operating reserve funds also 
include the One-Time Payment to ORSA for the Fox Theater transfer to 
the City ($4.4 million) and the remaining OSA Rent Reserve ($403,153), 
the latter is expected to be exhausted by July 1, 2021.  
 

6. Lease Updates – Informational Item  
 

a) Another Planet Entertainment LLC (“APE”)-GASS Entertainment 
LLC Lease & Request for Rent Deferral – Update  

 
On September 4, 2020, Brendan Moriarty and Anthony Reese submitted 
a proposal in response to APE allowing for rent deferral, with an interest 
charge, until December 31, 2021, or after five concerts hosted the Fox 
Theater, whichever the sooner of the two. Proposal included requirement 
to continue contributions towards the CAM charges.   
 
In response, APE stated that they had secured funding from an 
alternative source and will no longer need the FOTB’s rent deferral 
assistance. Will be coming current on outstanding payments and will be 
continue to make rent payments and contribute to CAM charges.  
 
Regarding OSA: Brendan Moriarty and Anthony Reese flagged about 
$68,000 in payments from 2007 to 2019 paid by OSA to APE for use of 
theater stage. This contradicted the APE-GASS lease agreement with 
OSA that allowed OSA ten uses of the stage for free. In addition, OSA 
was provided with 30 uses of the stage conditional on reimbursing GASS 
for its out-of-pocket costs related to OSA’s stage use. In their response, 
APE-GASS claimed that the written agreement doesn’t reflect the original 
intent of both parties. Brendan Moriarty and Anthony Reese will be 
following up with APE to better understand the historic practice and 
original intent of both parties. They will likely will provide an update on 
outcome of these discussions at the next FOTB meeting. 
 

b) Emporium Lease & Request for Rent Deferral – Update  
 
Emporium had requested a rent deferral, which Anthony Reese 
confirmed was granted. Duration of this deferral will continue until they 
are able to substantially re-open their business. 

  



Minutes of FOT Board Meeting by Tele-Conference 
October 2, 2020, 2:00 p.m.  Page 3 

i) Rudy’s Back Rent Loan Payment – Update

Rudy’s, a former Fox tenant that previously moved out, has an
outstanding loan balance for back rent owed to FOT for approximately
$55,000 in principal (original principal amount a little under $100,000);
they now request a relief in the form of loan deferral. Anthony Reese
stated that they requested financials that demonstrate financial
hardship. It’s expected that the FOTB will receive these documents by
the end of October. Once reviewed, we’ll either grant them a deferral
or return to the FOT Board for further direction.

c) OSA Lease Amendment – Update

OSA still pending review of FOT Board’s lease amendment extending 
their term to April 30, 2026. OSA had requested rent relief, but we’re 
still waiting for them on a written request for specific terms of rent relief 
to the FOT Board. Their prepaid rent reserve is expected to expire in 
July,  2021, so we’re eager to finalize negotiations prior to then.  

7. Fox Theater Asset Transfer from ORSA to City/FOT – Informational Item

Jens Hillmer provided update that report is with the City Attorney's 
office. Staff is still working on the legislation for the report. Initial goal 
was to take this report in conjunction with bond spending plan staff 
report to the November 10th City Council meeting, followed with the 
second reading of the ordinances and that report on December 1st. The 
deadline is extremely tight, as the entire report is due by October 12th 
to the City Administrator’s Office. Staff are unsure if the Board would 
like to postpone this item until December or January. The staff report 
for the Asset Transfer item is near complete. Primary drivers of this 
delay are due to finalizing the legislation for the report. Alexa Jeffress 
noted the importance of advancing this item by the end of this year, 
due to potential additional evaluation by the State DOF. She will follow 
up with staff to discuss timing and strategy. 

8. Property Management

a) RFP For Property Management Services to replace CCIG – Action
Item

Anthony Reese introduced Colliers International, the selected vendor
providing FOT with its property management services, as well as their
skills, expertise and a summary of their past experiences in property
management.



 

 
 
Minutes of FOT Board Meeting by Tele-Conference       
October 2, 2020, 2:00 p.m.           Page 4 

 

Staff recommends authorization to negotiate an asset/property 
management agreement with Colliers International as the new 
Property Manager for the Fox Oakland Theater in an amount not to 
exceed Six Thousand Two Hundred Dollars ($6,200) per month, or 
Seventy-Four Thousand Four Hundred Dollars ($74,400) per year plus 
a three percent (3%) increase on each anniversary date, for a term of 
five (5) years, which may be extended for two (2) additional terms of 
five (5) years each.  
 
Brendan Moriarty moved to authorize staff to negotiate an 
asset/property management agreement with Colliers International as 
the new Property Manager for the FOT. Motion was seconded by 
Alexa Jeffress and approved by consensus. 

 
b) Capital Improvement Needs – Update on Waterproofing and Roof 

Report – Update 
 
Staff has been attempting to fix various roof leaks at the Fox Theater 
that are affecting the OSA and other spaces in the building. Staff has 
been working with Public Works Department and one of their on- call 
roofing contractors, the Garland Company, to investigate the causes 
and to propose fixes. Once staff inspects roof, they hope that the 
contractor will be able to refine their preliminary estimate into a final bid 
price. Staff expects availability within the next two to three weeks, at 
which time, would request the Board to approve at the next convening. 
Staff expects the work should take around 10 days to complete.  

 
 

9. Next Meeting: December 7, 2020 @ 3 p.m. 
 

Alexa Jeffress stated there may be a special FOTB meeting prior to this 
date – however, date has not been confirmed.  

 
10. Other 
 
11. Adjournment  

 
Meeting adjourned at 2:54 p.m. 

 
 
[DRAFT] 
 
Hui-Chang Li, Secretary 
To be signed when approved by FOT Board 



Item #4 FOT Financial Status – Update 

 FY 19‐20 Audit is underway, first draft is due December 18,
2020 (delayed from Nov 30, 2020)

 Operating Reserves as of
o Oct 1, 2020: approximately $5.2 million
o Dec 1, 2020: approximately $5.2 million

 Includes One‐Time Reserve Payment for ORSA
Asset transfer: $4.4 million

 Includes OSA Rent Reserve Remaining: $259,903
o expected to exhaust by 6/1/2021

EXHIBIT A



1 

ACTION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
FOX OAKLAND THEATER, INC. 

RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 

RE:  AUTHORIZE APPROVAL AND EXECUTION OF A PROPERTY MANAGEMENT 
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH COLLIER’S INTERNATIONAL REAL ESTATE 
MANAGEMENT SERVICES (CA), INC. TO SERVE AS THE PROPERTY MANAGER FOR 
THE FOX OAKLAND THEATER IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED SIX THOUSAND 
TWO HUNDRED DOLLARS ($6,200) PER MONTH, OR SEVENTY-FOUR THOUSAND 
FOUR HUNDRED DOLLARS ($74,400) PER YEAR PLUS A THREE PERCENT (3%) 
INCREASE ON EACH ANNIVERSARY DATE, FOR A TERM OF FIVE (5) YEARS, 
WHICH MAY BE EXTENDED FOR TWO (2) ADDITIONAL TERMS OF FIVE (5) YEARS 
EACH, CONSISTENT WITH THE TERMS OF THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL ISSUED 
ON MARCH 13, 2020 

The undersigned, constituting all members of the Board of Directors of Fox Oakland 
Theater Inc., a California nonprofit public benefit corporation (the “Corporation”), do hereby 
adopt the following statements as true and correct and, where resolved, comprise the resolutions 
and authorizations of the Corporation: 

WHEREAS, the Corporation executed Amendment No. 12 to a professional services 
agreement with California Capital & Investment Group (“CCIG”) as successor to California 
Capital Group to provide property management services at the Fox Theater through December 
31, 2020, which amends that original agreement dated February 1, 2004 with the Redevelopment 
Agency of the City of Oakland as the original assignor; and 

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2020, the Corporation issued a request for proposal for 
asset/property management services for the Fox Theater; and  

WHEREAS, Colliers International Real Estate Management Services (CA), Inc. 
(“Colliers”) responded to the Request for Proposal; and 

WHEREAS, Colliers has managed over 40 assignments totaling more than 3.7 million 
square feet of historic buildings and has extensive property management experience with 
theaters, restaurants, and schools; and 

EXHIBIT B



2 
 

WHEREAS, Colliers submitted a strong proposal and responses to follow-up questions, 
had superior references, provided a transfer of management checklist and proposed a competitive 
management fee; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the selection committee agreed unanimously to recommend that the 
Corporation enter into a property management agreement (the “Agreement”) with Colliers; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 2, 2020, the Board of Directors of FOT authorized staff to 
negotiate an asset/property management agreement with Colliers International to provide 
property management services for the Fox Theater; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Corporation has negotiated the following terms (“Terms”) for the 
Agreement: 
 

1. The monthly management fee shall be in an amount of not to exceed Six Thousand Two 
Hundred Dollars ($6,200) for a total of Seventy-Four Thousand Four Hundred Dollars 
($74,400) per year. 

2. The monthly management fee shall be increased by 3% each year on the anniversary of 
the effective date of the Agreement. 

3. The Agreement shall be for a term of five (5) years, which may be extended for two (2) 
additional terms of five (5) years each; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation deems it to be in the best interest 

of the Corporation to have the Corporation authorize the execution of the Agreement with 
Colliers and to conduct all other necessary actions for this transaction.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: That the Board of Directors hereby authorize 

the Corporation to execute an Agreement with Collier’s as the new Property Manager for the Fox 
Oakland Theater based on the Terms consistent with the terms of the request for proposal issued 
on March 13, 2020; and be it  
 

FURTHER RESOLVED:  That the Agreement between the Corporation and Colliers 
shall be reviewed and approved for form and legality by the Corporation’s General Counsel; and 
be it   

 
FURTHER RESOLVED:  That any one officer of the Corporation and any one board 

member of the Corporation, acting on behalf of the Corporation, shall be authorized and directed 
to execute and deliver any and all necessary documents and instruments to facilitate the 
transactions authorized herein and any other action described in this Resolution; and be it     

 



3 
 

 FURTHER RESOLVED:  That to the extent that any actions authorized herein have 
already been performed by the Corporation, such actions are hereby ratified, confirmed and 
approved in all respects. 
 
[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK- SIGNATURES ON 
FOLLOWING PAGE]  



4 
 

IN WITNESS HEREOF, the undersigned Members of the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation have executed this Action as of December 7, 2020. 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alexa Jeffress, President 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Hui Chang Li, Secretary 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Margaret O’Brien, Chief Financial Officer 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Betsy Lake, Board Member 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Brendan Moriarty, Board Member 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Anthony Reese, Board Member 



1 

ACTION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
FOX OAKLAND THEATER, INC. 

RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 

RE:  AUTHORIZE APPROVAL AND EXECUTION OF AN AGREEMENT WITH  
GARLAND/DBS, INC. TO PROVIDE ROOFING MATERIAL AND SERVICESFOR THE 
FOX OAKLAND THEATER IN THE AMOUNT OF FOUR HUNDRED SEVENTY SIX 
THOUSAND-TWO HUNDRED AND EIGHTY ONE DOLLARS ($476,281), PLUS A 
FIFTEEN PERCENT (15%) CONTINGENCY IN THE AMOUNT OF SEVENTY ONE 
THOUSAND-FOUR HUNDRED AND FORTY-TWO DOLLARS ($71,442), FOR A TOTAL 
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED FIVE HUNDRED FORTY SEVEN THOUSAND-SEVEN 
HUNDRED AND TWENTY THREE DOLLARS ($547,723). 

The undersigned, constituting all members of the Board of Directors of Fox Oakland 
Theater Inc., a California nonprofit public benefit corporation (the “Corporation”), do hereby 
adopt the following statements as true and correct and, where resolved, comprise the resolutions 
and authorizations of the Corporation: 

WHEREAS, the Fox Theater has several areas of leakage at the roof, exterior walls and 
at or below grade walls and floors, as documented through visual observations by the two 
principal tenants, the Oakland School of the Arts (“OSA”) and GASS Entertainment, LLC as 
tenant and Another Planet Entertainment, LLC (“APE”) as guarantor; and 

WHEREAS, on March 2, 2020, Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates, Inc., an engineering 
firm specializing in waterproofing investigation generated a Leak Investigation & Roof 
Condition Report identifying several sources of leaks, including the seven roofs; exterior walls, 
and at or below grade walls; and 

WHEREAS, the roof itself being weathered, worn, deteriorated, patched, and continuing 
to leak, was identified as a candidate for targeted roof repairs; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Oakland, Facilities Services Division, was contacted and has 
existing contracts with roofing supply and service vendors, including the Garland 
Company/DBS, Inc. (the “Contractor”); and 

  WHEREAS, the Contractor performed its initial investigation of roof leaks on May 28, 
2020 and proposed roofing repairs with preliminary budget numbers for the built-up roof and 
concrete deck sections near Telegraph Avenue; and 

EXHIBIT C



2 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Contractor returned to the site in the intervening months to investigate 

additional sources of roof leakage and perform additional testing at the Theater Roof and other 
secondary roof locations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Contractor returned to site with three subcontractors on October 30, 

2020 to obtain subcontractor bids to finalize pricing for the proposed roof repairs; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Contractor submitted final pricing in their Roofing Material and 

Services Proposal dated December 2, 2020, and as shown in Attachment A: Summary of Costs 
dated December 2, 2020, for the roof repairs, with a total bid sum of Four Hundred Seventy Six 
Thousand-Two Hundred and Eighty One Dollars ($476,281); and 

 
WHEREAS, it is prudent to maintain and authorize a contingency reserve of fifteen 

percent (15%), or Seventy-One Thousand-Four Hundred and Forty-Two Dollars ($71,442); 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: That the Corporation shall authorize the 

execution of an agreement with Garland/DBS, Inc., for a total bid sum of Four Hundred Seventy 
Six Thousand-Two Hundred and Eighty One Dollars ($476,281); and include a construction 
contingency of Seventy One Thousand-Four Hundred and Forty-Two Dollars ($71,442), for a 
total amount not to exceed Five Hundred Forty Seven Thousand-Seven Hundred and Twenty 
Three Dollars ($547,723) through an existing Purchase Order with the City of Oakland, Office of 
Public Works Facilities Services Division, to perform targeted roof repairs; and be it   

 
FURTHER RESOLVED:  That any one officer of the Corporation and any one board 

member of the Corporation, acting on behalf of the Corporation, shall be authorized and directed 
to execute and deliver any and all necessary documents and instruments to facilitate the 
transactions authorized herein and any other action described in this Resolution; and be it 

 
FURTHER RESOLVED: That the agreement between the Corporation and the 

Contractor shall be reviewed and approved for form and legality by the Corporation’s General 
Counsel; and be it       

 
 RESOLVED FURTHER:  That to the extent that any actions authorized herein have 
already been performed by the Corporation, such actions are hereby ratified, confirmed and 
approved in all respects. 
 
[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK- SIGNATURES ON 
FOLLOWING PAGE]  



3 
 

IN WITNESS HEREOF, the undersigned Members of the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation have executed this Action as of December 7, 2020. 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alexa Jeffress, President 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Hui Chang Li, Secretary 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Margaret O’Brien, Chief Financial Officer 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Betsy Lake, Board Member 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Brendan Moriarty, Board Member 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Anthony Reese, Board Member 



ATTACHMENT A - SUMMARY OF COSTS
















